# OUR TOWN: RESTORING LOCALISM



SEPTEMBER, 2016

The Center for Opportunity Urbanism (COU) is a 501(c)(3) national think tank. COU focuses on the study of cities as generators of upward mobility.

COU's mission is to change the urban policy conversation, both in America and globally, by creating and giving voice to a new model of "people oriented urbanism" centered on opportunity, governance, job creation, upward mobility and sustained broad-based economic growth to reduce poverty and enhance the quality of life for all.

For a comprehensive collection of COU publications and commentary, go to www.opportunityurbanism.org.

### AUTHORS

Joel Kotkin is the executive director of the Houston-based Center for Opportunity Urbanism. He is the RC Hobbs Presidential Fellow in Urban Futures at Chapman University. The author of eight books, including the highly acclaimed The Human City: Urbanism for the Rest of Us", he serves as the executive director of the influential website www.newgeography.com and is a regular contributor to Forbes.com, the Orange County Register, Real Clear Politics and the Daily Beast.

Wendell Cox is a senior fellow with the Center for Opportunity Urbanism. He is principal of Demographia, a St. Louis based international public policy consulting firm which publishes the widely cited Demographia World Urban Areas survey and the Demographia International Affordability Survey. He served for three terms on the Los Angeles Transportation Commission as an appointment of Mayor Tom Bradley. He also served as a visiting professor at the Conservatoire National des Arts et Metiers (CNAM) in Paris.

Editor: Zina Klapper is a journalist and editor with numerous national credits. Most recently, she has edited a major volume of essays for MIT's Center for Advanced Urbanism, scheduled for publication by Princeton Architectural Press in 2017. Previously, her international media outreach for the Levy Economics Institute of Bard College included commentaries on major news outlets worldwide.

### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS:**

We would like to thank Fieldstead and Company whose support made this project possible. We are also grateful for the input of Howard Ahmanson, Joe Gorra and Steve Ferguson.

This paper would not have been possible without the research assistance of Luke Alan Phillips at the University of Southern California and Alicia Kurimska from Chapman University. The authors would also like to extend their thanks to Leo Linbeck, Chairman of the Center for Opportunity Urbanism, and Michael Barnhart, for their encouragement and advice. Finally we want to thank Mandy Shamis for her assistance with proofreading and editing.

### OUR TOWN: RESTORING LOCALISM

### CONTENTS

| Introduction1                                                  |
|----------------------------------------------------------------|
| The Logic of Hyper-Centralization                              |
| Needed: A New Localist Paradigm4                               |
| The Rise of Leviathan: The Federal State Emerges5              |
| The Obama Presidency: The Rise of Hyper-Centralism7            |
| The New Progressive Mindset                                    |
| Climate Change: A Killer App for Expanded Federalization12     |
| The Federalization of Zoning and Land Use                      |
| California: The New Model of the Centralized "Coercive" State? |
| Density, California, and the End of Local Control              |
| Is Consolidation Really More Efficient?19                      |
| Alternatives to Consolidation                                  |
| Creating A Locally-Focused, Digital Democracy                  |
| Conclusion: The End of American Exceptionalism                 |

### RESTORING LOCALISM: AN AGENDA FOR TWENTY-FIRST CENTURY AMERICA

### INTRODUCTION

America is facing a critical moment in its evolution, one that threatens both its future prosperity and the integrity of its institutions. Over the past several decades, government has become increasingly centralized, with power shifting from local communities to the federal level. This has been accompanied by a decline in non-governmental institutions, a matter of concern to thinkers on both the right and the left.<sup>1</sup>

The issue here is not the irrelevance or intrinsic evil of government itself, nor is it a debate of liberalism vs conservatism. Rather, it is a question of how to meet society's primary challenges. Is it most effective to try and solve our myriad problems from a central federal, state or regional authority, or from a more local one?

We believe the right answer, in many cases, is to make a shift back towards local governing agencies, to neighborhoods, and to families. This change in direction would be a return to the roots of our current federal system, which allows different levels of government to make their own decisions, providing a marketplace for various ideas and approaches. To be sure, local governments also make mistakes, and they can be authoritarian, corrupt, and short-sighted in meeting the needs of residents. But for the most part, locally generated negatives remain contained to local jurisdictions, and can be fixed through the democratic process at the more accessible local level.

A variety of views on the topic can be found at every point on the political spectrum.

Former Defense Secretary Robert Gates, for example, notes that the country needs to return to "... the system of government bequeathed to us by the Founders," saying that the expansion of government should be restrained "when so much of what we have works so poorly."<sup>2</sup>

The progressive justice Louis Brandeis came to a similar conclusion from a decidedly different perspective. Praising the role of states as "Laboratories of Democracy", he suggested that local governments can "...try novel social and economic experiments without risk to the rest of the country."<sup>3</sup> This mantra was later picked up by the left-of-center American political theorist David Osborne in his 1990 book, "Laboratories of Democracy."<sup>4</sup>

Notably, Osborne's book featured a foreword by then-Governor of Arkansas, Bill Clinton. The future U.S. President praised "pragmatic responses" to key social and economic issues by both liberal and conservative governors. Such state level responses, he correctly noted, were critical in "a country as complex and diverse as ours."<sup>5</sup>

Many of the most radical advocates for local control have historically been on the American left. In the 1960s and '70s, leading thinkers like Milton Kotler and Karl Hess helped create what St. Louis University's Benjamin Looker defined as "the neighborhood movement's radical decentralist wing." The localists thought issues should be addressed through the lower levels of government and grassroots non-government institutions. This approach was also embraced by such disparate thinkers as the great urbanist Jane Jacobs and the conservative scholar Robert Nisbet.<sup>6</sup>

Today, many on the left embrace the ideal of localism as a reaction against globalization and domination by large corporations.<sup>7</sup> For example, grassroots progressives often support local merchants and locally produced agricultural products.<sup>8</sup> Some have adopted localist ideas as an economic development tool, an environmental win, and a form of resistance to ever-greater centralized big business control.<sup>9</sup> Author Heather Gerken has argued that progressive social causes like racial integration, gay marriage, marijuana legalization, and others have historically tended to be adopted first at a local level before spreading to other areas. This sort of localism, of course, runs the risk of not spreading as rapidly to more conservative localities. Nonetheless, Gerken argues, it's necessary for cities and states to have these powers so that local "cities upon a hill" of social reform can be allowed to flourish and lead by example.<sup>10</sup>

Sadly, this embrace of localism often does not jibe with the contemporary progressive approach towards governance. For example, the New Urbanism movement is founded on the sound principle of small districts built around "the concept of community."<sup>11</sup> But its founding principles favor solutions that would require centralized planning around a fixed set of preferred, even mandated, options.<sup>12</sup>

Outside of political circles, localism is widely embraced by a broad majority of the American public. By a wide margin — 64 percent to 26 percent, according to a 2015 poll — Americans say that they feel "more progress" comes from the local level than the federal level. Majorities of political affiliations and all demographic groups hold this same opinion.<sup>13</sup>



The preference for localism also extends to attitudes toward state governments, many of which have grown more powerful and intrusive in recent years, notably in California. Some 72 percent of Americans, according to Gallup, trust their local governments more than they do their state institutions; even in California, far more people prefer local control to control from Sacramento.<sup>14</sup>

### AMERICANS FAVOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT

#### Figure 2

Americans' Trust in State and Local Government

Figures are percentages with a great deal/fair amount of trust in the level of government



GALLUP





Even in California far more people prefer local control than that from Sacramento. Strong majorities (70 percent adults, 78 percent likely voters) prefer local government over state government (25 percent adults, 18 percent likely voters).

Millennials may largely be liberal on issues such as immigration and gay marriage, but, like older generations, they strongly favor community-based, local solutions to key problems. As one commentator has suggested, the use of social media may make them more "socially conscious," but they do not necessarily

2

Figure 1

favor the ideal of top-down structure embraced by earlier generations. They generally prefer small units to larger ones.<sup>15</sup>

Indeed, a recent National Journal poll found that less than a third of millennials favor federal solutions over locally-based ones. They are far less trusting of major institutions than their Generation X predecessors.<sup>16</sup> Millennials' regard for large institutions like the courts, the police, and the media appears to have reached a nadir. Among the six institutions included in the poll, the military ranked highest, at 53 percent. "Millennials are on a completely different page than most politicians in Washington, DC," notes pollster John Della Volpe. "This is a more cynical generation when it comes to political institutions."17

### THE LOGIC OF HYPER-CENTRALIZATION

The contemporary trend towards what might be best described as 'hyper-centralization' assumes the superior expertise and wisdom of bureaucracies with the power to regulate. It is tied to the nationalization of politics, an approach that ignores local conditions and rationalizes single solutions for a highly diverse country. It has also, as The New York Times' Tom Edsall has noted, served to make politics far more ideological, and less capable of addressing real problems, as the center weakens and the extremes in both parties carry out ever-more narrow agendas.<sup>18</sup>

Our counterpoint is a challenge to hyper-centralism: to its practical shortcomings, as well as to its authoritarian nature. In our research, we have found repeatedly that a federal and state expansion of powers over locally controlled policies often tends to be ineffective, expensive, and unnecessary.

The trend toward centralism is rooted in the belief that bigger and more concentrated government means better government. This notion has grown since the progressive era, and was embraced by the New Deal, the Great Society, and, more recently, by the Obama administration.

At the core of the centralist idea is the notion - not totally off-base - that political fragmentation leads to an unequal level of services, as a consequence of the unequal capacity of jurisdictions to generate internal fiscal resources. The absence of a region-wide government, centralizers argue, hinders the formulation of policies to address this problem.<sup>19</sup> Many politicians, intellectuals, and academics long have embraced the consolidation of numerous governments in metropolitan areas as a means of increasing efficiency and responsiveness.<sup>20</sup> Advocates cite opportunities to better coordinate public policy and to encourage economic development, and contend that local government fragmentation exacerbates racial and social class segregation. <sup>21</sup> They also argue that new self-governing communities facilitate urban sprawl.22

Movements favoring wider regional governance have adherents around the world, notably in the European Union and in emerging countries. British planners have been working to undermine local control for decades, and have targeted successful suburban developments, notably Milton Keynes outside of London, for not meeting the goals of national planners.<sup>23</sup> In Denmark, the Netherlands and Finland, national officials have all but forced localities to accept consolidations by withholding funds if they fail to comply. Say scholars Michiel S. de Vries and Iwona Sobis:

During the decision making process, often the word "voluntary" appears, however, always accompanied by wielding a big stick. In Denmark, municipalities got one year to merge voluntarily, and if they did not comply, central government would impose it. In Finland and the Netherlands, the national governments use financial incentives to induce municipal mergers.<sup>24</sup>

The movement to centralize control in ever larger and more distant bureaucracies has been critical to the Brexit debate. This political shock has been ascribed to nativism, racism, and opposition to globalization but as leftist author James Heartfield points out, the greatest reason was one largely ignored by the dominant figures of both the Conservative and Labour parties: a desire for local control. Heartfield notes, "The vote shows that very few of the experts, the academics, the media, lawyers and politicians have any insight into the will of the people, or even understand the meaning of the words sovereignty and democracy."<sup>25</sup>

The anti-EU rebellion is hardly limited to Britain. Since 2005, French, Danish and Dutch voters have voted against closer EU ties. Hostility to the EU, as recorded by Pew, is actually stronger in many key European countries, including France, than in Britain. Since the Brexit vote there have been moves for similar exit referenda in several European countries.<sup>26</sup>

### NEEDED: A NEW LOCALIST PARADIGM

Localism is not a panacea for solving all issues, some of which are indeed better addressed on a larger scale. The central government has historically played an important and often positive role in shaping our democracy. The founders correctly saw the hyper-decentralized, state-dominated regime under the Articles of Confederation as ineffective, particularly for the national defense and for the promotion of commerce.

Though they favored a strong federal government, the framers also were profoundly aware of the dangers posed by a concentration of power. They had studied the successful growth of the Roman Republic, with its intricate system designed to reduce too much power in singular hands, followed by its violent transition into a centralized state under one ruler. The American Republic itself emerged in large part against monarchical control and the political oppression dealt to the colonies by the central London government.<sup>27</sup>

The Constitution divided power in

two ways: between the executive, legislative, and judicial branches of the federal government, and between the powers of the federal government and those "reserved to the states."

### JAMES MADISON ON CONCENTRATION OF POWER

Figure 4



"The accumulation of powers legislative, executive, and judiciary in the same hands ... may justly be pronounced the very definition of tyranny." Federalist No. 47

The federal Constitution both sought to ensure stability and security, but in a context of limited and balanced powers. The Federalists among the Founders as well as more skeptical thinkers like Thomas Jefferson — understood the dangers implicit in too much centralized power. Madison, for example, advocated a stronger federal system but insisted that "neither moral or religious motives" could be relied on to create a successful republic; that would require "checks and balances" to prevent any of society's "factions" from gaining too much power and subverting the republican system, as occurred in Rome.<sup>28</sup>

LOCALISM

## THE RISE OF LEVIATHAN: THE FEDERAL STATE EMERGES

In the first decades of the Republic, Federalists promoted federal regulation and interstate commerce by supporting infant industries with federal investment in infrastructure. These policies helped to open the then-largely uninhabited country. Congress addressed fierce conflicts between agrarians, including slave holders, and the emerging mercantile class, but ceded a large degree of local control on education, land use, and family law. Ultimately, this system broke down over the pressing moral and economic issue of slavery, which could only be addressed adequately by the federal government. Adherents of the Hamiltonian tradition, notes historian Michael Lind, roughly subscribed to some version of the "American System": stable regulation of central finance, protection of infant industries, and federal investments in infrastructure and technology.29

Critically, most advocates of that "system" were temperamentally conservative; they did not seek to transform society through the benevolent intentions of central planners, and most shared a relatively dark view of human nature. The Federalists despised the masses, and their Whig successors identified constant self-improvement as the critical means to redeem wickedness. Abraham Lincoln spoke more idealistically than did his forebears, but he never approached centralist utopianism. In his famous Fragment on Government he noted:

The legitimate object of government is to do for a community of people whatever they need to have done, but cannot do at all, or cannot so well do, for themselves in their separate, and individual capacities... In all that the people can individually do as well for themselves, government ought not to interfere....<sup>30</sup>

Localism played an important role as the nation entered the progressive era at the turn of the last century. Many important reforms — conserving resources, regulating monopolies, and guaranteeing public health — were enacted first at the local and state level.<sup>31</sup> Federal power grew under Theodore Roosevelt, who believed that, unless forbidden by the Constitution or the laws, it was the President's "right and duty" to "broaden the use of executive power" for the well-being of the people and the nation.<sup>32</sup>

Turn of the century progressivism, reflected in the growth of new agencies like the Interstate Commerce Commission and the Federal Trade Commission, was in many ways a necessary corrective to the assault on the lives of ordinary people by the industrial and financial ruling elites.<sup>33</sup> But, over time, the Progressives' excessive faith in the rationality of planning led to a broad embrace of the institutionalization of central power and a belief in its efficacy.

The twin crises of the Depression and the Second World War greatly expanded the scope of the bureaucracy as a sort of fourth branch of government. New federal agencies and departments were created and expanded to meet new 'needs' in the complicated modern economy, and were given largely unquestioned regulatory power.34 The New Deal would be a consummation of many of the centralizing reforms of the preceding half-century, but, as historian Richard Hofstadter suggests, with an embrace of gigantism that "would have horrified Brandeis and [Woodrow] Wilson, who saw themselves as protectors of traditional American values against powerful, concentrated interests."35

The Great Society launched by Lyndon Johnson represented, at least until the Obama administration, the boldest expansion of federal power since the New Deal. Federal involvement, epitomized by programs like the Economic Opportunity Act, gave Washington the ability to develop local economies without the aid of local government. In many Great Society policy areas this move was in part justified by the presence of often racist

local governments, even in big cities.<sup>36</sup>

A deep-seated faith in the collective expertise of the federal government had taken hold. "The science of government," as author William Schambra has noted, changes the political equation away from the balancing of interests and geographies to one that sees a technocratic answer to great questions. During both the New Deal and the Great Society, the "expert" was deemed to be above the political fray, unprejudiced and independent in ways that political appointees and legislators were not.37 The advocates of a scientific approach, noted historian and social critic Christopher Lasch, "had redefined democracy in their own image."38

When conservatives returned to power in 1969 under GOP President Richard Nixon, he kept the administrative leviathan and its bureaucratic regulatory framework in place. Nixon, to his credit, tried to decentralize some functions, but he also expanded the regulatory state, particularly with the founding of the Environmental Protection Agency.<sup>39</sup>

The size and, more importantly, the power of the federal government, has continued to expand inexorably. There were about 3,000 federal bureaucrats at the end of the federal period, and 95,000 when Grover Cleveland took office in 1881.<sup>40</sup>

Since 1929, the federal government's share of total public spending has risen from 39 percent to 53 percent. The federal bureaucracy has grown from a mere 600,000 employees before the New Deal, to 2.7 million in 2014; this represented a 350 % increase while overall population growth was 150%.<sup>41</sup>

Increasingly, though, the challenge of federal power has less to do with the number of people in the oft-maligned bureaucracy — federal hiring has not expanded rapidly in recent years — than with the growth of its financial and regulatory power under both parties. Reagan slowed the expansion of federal power, and Bill Clinton's notion that "the era of big government is over," was not far different.<sup>42</sup>

Despite this, the growth of centralized power has continued unabated.<sup>43</sup> For his part, George W. Bush increased the regulatory apparatus by 90,000 workers. Bush expanded the federal role in education and health, and generally did little to reverse the concentration of power in Washington that already reached beyond the traditional federal role in the military.<sup>44</sup>

Some of this power has been 'the power of the purse', by which federal agencies can influence local decisions through both regulations and subsidies. The share of government spending controlled by the federal government - but often dispersed by states and localities — has risen from 3 percent of GDP in 1900 to almost 22 percent in 2016. The total amount of money spent by the federal government every year has continued to climb, as every decade has brought more federal regulations from more agencies and departments.45 Local government employees may implement programs on the ground, but more of the flow of funds originate from Washington.

### GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURES BY LEVEL

Figure 5



The growing role of the central authority, notes authors Richard Epstein and Mario Loyola, has helped turn local governments into "mere field offices of the federal government." They note:

Federal officials exert enormous influence over state budgets and state regulators, often behind the scenes. The new federalism replaces the "Laboratories of Democracy" with heavy-handed, one-size-fits-all solutions. Uniformity wins but diversity loses, along with innovation, local choice, and the Constitution's necessary limits on government power.<sup>46</sup>

## THE OBAMA PRESIDENCY: THE RISE OF HYPER-CENTRALISM

The propensity to expand executive power considerably predates Barack Obama's presidency. It seems to generally be the case that, as an administration approaches its end, there is an increased tendency to impose regulations via federal diktat. But this centralizing trend has certainly accelerated in the current Administration. Under his administration the federal government has issued more and more regulations, vastly expanding the power of the executive branch. The conservative Heritage Foundation estimates that as of 2015 the Obama administration had passed at least 184 "major rules" (regulations with at least a \$100 million economic impact) and thousands of smaller rules. During its first six years, the Obama administrations promulgated more than twice as many major rules as the first six years of the predecessor Bush Administration.47

### OBAMA ISSUES TWICE AS MANY MAJOR NEW RULES AS BUSH

#### Figure 6



In it's first six years, the Obama Administration imposed 184 major regulations on the private sector. That figure is more than twice the number imposed by Bush Administration it its first six years. Source: U.S. Government Accountability Office, gAO Federal Rules database Search, http://www.gao.gov/legal/ congressact/fedrule.html (accessed April 17, 2015).

#### Figure 7



Significantly, many of these directives — particularly those dealing with the environment, housing, labor, race and gender — have been implemented without legislative approval, a marked shift from earlier eras of legislative-executive cooperation.<sup>48</sup> As commentator Ross Douthat notes, Obama resembles an "Imperial President."<sup>49</sup> He has proposed and implemented major regulations concerning climate change and made important decisions on without even bothering to submit his proposals to a Congress that,

as one White House spokesman once said, constitutes a body that is "hard to take seriously."<sup>50</sup> Some of this has been ascribed, with some justification, to the actions of an often obstructionist Congress. Facing less strident opposition, other presidents have also expanded executive power, but still the Obama administration's expansion of executive power is remarkable in peacetime.

As the President prepared for his last year in office, his agenda was defined primarily by a set of new executive orders and regulatory edicts, as opposed to the more traditional route of submitting a legislative agenda.<sup>51</sup> This profound disregard for the restraints of federalism is in parallel to — or a reflection of — a growing acceptance in both parties of the notion that executive authority should be superior to that of the legislative branch.<sup>52</sup>

Similarly, there appears a growing tendency at the state level to preempt local authority. As analyst Aaron Renn points out, assaults on local control are being carried out by conservative legislators who want to contravene the progressive agenda of core cities, while in other states, progressive-dominated state governments frequently seek to override more conservative local authorities.<sup>53</sup>

All these actions, federal and state, liberal and conservative, have worked to diminish the role of local government and their citizens. Previous large federal programs, such as Social Security, did not seek to micromanage results, but to redistribute incomes, and came as a result of legislation. What we see now is profoundly different and, from a constitutional perspective, profoundly disturbing.

### THE NEW PROGRESSIVE MINDSET

Following his progressive predecessors, President Obama has made a point of embracing the 'science' of policy, suggesting that political considerations should be overridden by objective, demonstrative truth. This has led to the expert-led construction of Obamacare — as opposed to more gradual reforms — as well as to a host of new regulations, not mandated by Congress, on environmental, energy, housing and land-use issues. This marks the emergence of an uncontrolled and ever-expanding leviathan, largely unbound by the traditional restraints built into our constitutional system.<sup>54</sup>

Choices have been made on the assumption that there are 'right' answers to questions. This is opposite the Madisonian view that "... as long as the reason of man continues to be fallible, and he is at liberty to exercise it, different opinions will be formed."<sup>55</sup> As Schambra puts it:

"In one policy area after another — from transportation to science, urban policy to auto policy — Obama's formulation is virtually identical: selfishness or ideological rigidity has led us to look at the problem in isolated pieces rather than as an all-encompassing system; we must put aside parochialism to take the long systemic view; and when we finally formulate a uniform national policy supported by empirical and objective data rather than shallow, insular opinion, we will arrive at solutions that are not only more effective but less costly as well. This is the mantra of the policy presidency."<sup>56</sup>

The new progressive mindset was laid out recently in the Atlantic, which openly called for the creation of a "technocracy" to determine energy, economic and land use policies across the world. In the estimation of the writer, mechanisms like the market or even technological change are simply not up to the challenge. Instead, the entire world needs to be put on a 'war footing' that complies with the technocracy's edicts. This includes a drive to impose energy austerity on an already fading middle class, and limiting mundane pleasures like cheap air travel, cars, freeways, suburbs and single family housing.57

Has this cycle of centralization reached its peak? Will it now slow down or recede? Or are we just at the beginning of an unprecedented consolidation of gov-

ernmental power? Certain factors suggest that the consolidation wave will continue, particularly given the growing centralization of economic and media power, as well as the growing role of institutions subsidy-seeking businesses, universities, lobbyists, non-profits and the bureaucracy itself — that have a natural interest in an expanded central authority.<sup>58</sup>

What is remarkable about today's expansion of federal power is that it is taking place amidst growing public skepticism about its efficacy. As noted above, confidence in large governmental institutions — outside of the military and police — has trended towards record lows. The Presidency has suffered along with Congress, whose ratings are particularly abysmal.<sup>59</sup>

Roughly half of all Americans, according to a 2015 Gallup poll, now consider the federal government "an immediate threat to the rights and freedoms of ordinary citizens"; in 2003, only thirty percent felt that way. Currently, just 19 percent say they can trust the government always or most of the time. Only 20 percent would describe government programs as being well-run. Elected officials are held in such low regard that 55 percent of the public says "ordinary Americans" would do a better job of solving national problems.<sup>60</sup>

A recent survey conducted by Chapman University found more Americans now fear their own government more than they do than outside threats.<sup>61</sup>

The notion that such policies are inherently less biased than those developed through the democratic process has been challenged by expert. The expert driven policy developed largely outside the democratic process has been challenged in recent decades by the 'public choice' school of economics, which evaluates government performance by looking beyond expertise. Public choice economists show that individual incentives — and not just a concern for the public good still influence among elected officials and government employees at every level of government participation.<sup>62</sup>

### DEFINING INCOMPETENCE UP

The public's skepticism is borne out by the record. The federal government is a blunt instrument which often wastes money without producing results. Indeed, "...[the] federal government has no idea how many tax dollars it's wasting on redundant federal programs every year - but it's likely in the neighborhood of \$45 billion," noted the Government Accountability Office. which identified more than two dozen new areas of inefficiency and overlap in a recent report. This is on top of the more than 160 redundant areas it identified in its three previous reports.63 "It's impossible to account how much money is wasted through duplication, in part because the government doesn't keep track of which programs each agency is responsible for," Comptroller Gene Dodaro said in prepared congressional testimony.64

Massive duplication and money-wasting seems endemic, even as the federal regulatory scope expands. A 2015 GAO report highlighted egregious examples of redundancy, including \$30 million worth of catfish inspections performed by two separate agencies, and \$66 million in contracts awarded by two different arms of the Department of Homeland Security unknowingly researching the exact same thing."65 The total cost was greater than the impact of the entire sequester.<sup>66</sup> Given this record of incompetence, it's tragic that the continued concentration of power has been so little questioned by the media and most progressive politicians.

Much of the problem can be seen as inherent mission creep, as agencies expand. A classic case is the Federal Reserve System, which has moved from regulating monetary policy to serving as the key drivers of economic recovery through massive purchases of bonds, supervision of investment banks, and ultra-low interest rates. In the process, a remarkable concentration of economic and financial power in fewer hands occurred during the Obama years, shifting resources away from Main Street. Government policy was a hand-maiden in

#### this process.67

"The Economist" notes that the Federal Reserve Board has become more "politicized" than in the past, and is playing a more critical role in managing the country's economy than elected officials. "It's getting into areas that are not typically thought to require the degree of independence that monetary policy does," notes former Fed Chairman Paul Volker. The policy adopted by the Fed has been successful in some ways, but also created an economy heavily tilted towards the rich and large banks, and away from grassroots, Main Street businesses and middle class families, notes supply-side guru and conservative philosopher George Gilder. This led him to refer to the Federal Reserve System as "the God that failed."68

Similarly, federal approaches to poverty have not been successful, and may have actually been counter-productive. Up until the 1970s the federal government's efforts could be credited, along with a strong economy, to reducing poverty, which fell nearly in half between 1959 and 1969.69 Yet as welfare spending continued to expand, largely through federal programs, the poverty rate began to grow once again after 2000, doubling in the first ten years of the millennium. By 2010, the poverty rate, despite massive spending increases to alleviate it, was actually higher than it was at the onset of the Great Society.70

### IMPACT OF FEDERAL SPENDING **ON POVERTY**



As welfare spending continued to grow, largely through federal programs, the poverty rate since 2000 began to grow once again, doubling in the first ten years of the millennium. By 2010 the poverty rate was actually higher than it was the onset of the Great Society

In much the same way, the rapid increase in Federal government involvement that accompanied the Great Society has not improved educational performance, nor resulted in more poor students attending college.<sup>71</sup> Growing federal involvement with primary education has done little to improve scores, which continue to deteriorate, with High School graduation rates actually declining in the years following the establishment of the Department of Education.72

### NATIONAL ASSESSMENT OF EDUCATIONAL PROGRESS, SCORES FOR AGE 17



"Despite the large increases in federal aid since the 1960s, public school academic performance has ultimately not improved. While scores on the National Assessment of Educational Progress have improved for some groups and younger ages, math and reading scores for 17-year-olds– essentially, the school system's "final products"–have been stagnant. In addition, America's performance on international exams has remained mediocre, yet we spend more per-pupil on K-12 education than almost any other country.6 Federal funding and top-down rules are not the way to create a high-quality K-12 education system in America."

There seems to have been little improvement from George W. Bush's No Child Left Behind reforms, which insinuated the federal government ever-more into local education. As the progressive-leaning Atlantic concluded, "The idea was that further accountability would lead to higher achievement; however, its impact was debatable at best."<sup>73</sup>

### RISE IN FEDERAL EDUCATION SPENDING

Figure 10



Despite the ineffectiveness of Washington's role, localities and states find themselves more enmeshed in the federal system; nearly half of the Massachusetts Department of Education's employees are now in federally funded positions, performing federally mandated activities.<sup>74</sup> Worse still, federal agencies such as the Education Department's Office for Civil Rights have recently attempted to make local districts conform to its edicts in everything from sexual harassment, school discipline, instruction of English language learners, and even the allocation of local "educational resources."<sup>75</sup>

Some also see federal moves to create "community schools" — attempts to expand local educational institutions to encompass community service and outreach — as an assault on familial roles.<sup>76</sup> These concerns extend to fears about the elimination of local elected school boards, and any move towards giving control of schools to local or federal political leaders.<sup>77</sup>

A top-down focus could impact not just communities, but families. The very logic that favors experts overruling local decision makers could also be used to reduce the family's role. Recent moves by the Health and Human Services Department to promote "family engagement" stresses the role of the state in raising children, although parents are seen as partners in this enterprise.<sup>78</sup>

The conservative author Heather Williams raises the prospect that families will be supplanted by "... an army of micromanaging bureaucratic Grand Pooh-Bahs" who represent "an expanding government that wants to be your dad." <sup>79</sup> Even if this is not the intention, government attempts have failed to address what may be the largest source of poverty, the breakdown of families: one quarter of American children live in one-parent families, and a third live without fathers. This has been linked repeatedly in large part to declining social mobility.<sup>80</sup>

More of the same can be seen in the environmental arena. The Environmental Protection Agency, along with some state agencies, have effectively improved and maintained air and water quality. This effort largely succeeded, but increasingly the EPA is engaged in classic mission creep, delving into areas such as "anxiety and poor nutrition," and environmental "justice." And as the levels of pollution have dropped, often dramatically, the agency simply moves the goal-posts ever further back, allowing it to speak of unhealthy pollution at levels well below the original standards. The bad news proffered to the public, however, has been very good for increased power — and funding — for the agency.<sup>81</sup>

For a science-based agency, the emphasis on "equity," "justice" and "anxiety," seems out of place. Warnings should not increase as danger decreases. But so it goes with big agencies pushed by special interests, and a federal government that wants to be all things to all people, especially when there are budgets to expand. The most recent expensive programs to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, for example, have not paid off. Instead, the primary reducer of carbon emissions has been more efficient and cleaner energy technology solutions, such as the substitution of natural gas for coal, made possible by fracking advances.82

In contrast, neither draconian regulation of fossil fuels nor the subsidization of expensive renewables have had much of an effect on reducing emissions, and have seriously harmed small businesses and mass-employment industries.<sup>83</sup> In contrast, U.S. Department of Energy projections indicate that improved fuel economy regulations will result in a 50 percent reduction in greenhouse gases (GHG), emissions from cars and personal trucks compared to the level that would have occurred under regulations as they existed in 2005.<sup>84</sup>

Rather than coordinate with local jurisdictions, the EPA increasingly promotes a single national approach to environmental issues. It would be more effective if it were limited to its original role: protecting waterways, endangered species, and air quality in a narrow sense.

For example, a proposed definition attempts to clarify EPA's jurisdiction over navigable waters, their tributaries, and other waters to include wetlands and streams with a significant nexus to a navigable water or tributary. This would essentially extend federal jurisdiction down to the smallest creek if it eventually flows into a navigable river. And it would include treating areas that flood even occasionally as national wetlands, which further threatens new peripheral developments. Developers, farmers and local jurisdictions fear that they will be forced to comply with complex and costly new regulations.85

Overreach into this area and others is often ineffective and wasteful. It often causes severe economic dislocation in manufacturing regions, slows housing construction and impacts those regions that produce fossil fuels. Not surprisingly, the greatest opposition to the EPA comes from energy producing states and from manufacturers.<sup>86</sup>

## CLIMATE CHANGE: A KILLER APP FOR EXPANDED FEDERALIZATION

Overreach has been particularly notable in the EPA's expansion into climate change regulation. There is a growing movement to curb GHGs through prescriptive land use regulations that contravene traditional local controls. These strategies seek to substantially increase the density of urban areas, and to induce people to give up driving and instead travel by transit.

In many cases the regulations have been unnecessary or even counterproductive. Research shows these regulatory strategies have at best a marginal impact on GHG emissions. A report by McKinsey and Company indicates that sufficient GHG reductions can be achieved without reductions in driving or forcing people into ever denser communities.<sup>87</sup>

In addition, such land use regulations

have been associated with higher house prices, which have the effect of reducing living standards and increasing poverty. Higher urban densities are also associated with greater air pollution (especially along busy corridors), greater traffic congestion, and longer travel times. Those travel factors have the potential to reduce economic growth, since research indicates a strong relationship between travel times and productivity.<sup>88</sup>

Even federal projections indicate scant future gains from such policies, with minimal reductions achieved only at exorbitant costs.<sup>89</sup> Moreover, projections virtually always exclude the higher housing costs associated with the urban containment policies that are a requisite for meeting the objectives of densification.

There are, however, substantial opportunities to reduce GHG emissions at lower costs. The Environmental Protection Agency's 54.5 mile per gallon standard is projected to reduce GHG emissions at a cost of minus \$250 per metric ton by 2040.90 More broadly, McKinsey & Company estimates that the potential to reduce GHG emissions sufficient to achieve Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change recommendations for 2030 for far lower cost per metric ton, an average cost of \$6 (a range of from approximately minus \$140 to plus \$90) per metric ton.91 This is somewhat below the current market price to offset a metric ton of GHG emissions from air travel (\$13.12), but well below the cost of expanding transit to attract drivers from cars, which was estimated in 2008 at more than \$1,000 per metric ton.92

### ATTRACTING DRIVERS TO TRANSIT: COST COMPARED TO MARKET PRICE OF CO2



## THE FEDERALIZATION OF ZONING AND LAND USE

Perhaps the most radical shift in recent years has been to challenge the traditional prerogatives of communities to shape their future through zoning and housing regulations. This campaign has its roots in the Fair Housing Movement of the 1960s and '70s, which sought, with limited success, to build public housing, largely for minorities, in predominately white suburbs.<sup>93</sup> The effort has been recharged under Obama through the Department of Housing and Urban Development.

New HUD regulations could force communities to accommodate a designated number of poor households, to achieve greater sociological and racial balance. This would be accomplished by suggesting that current housing patterns, despite no evidence of discrimination, have a "disparate impact" on the poor.

Ironically, this targeting of suburbs is occurring just as minorities are flocking to them on their own volition. Like other Americans, most minorities generally prefer relatively lower-density living. Ever since the Civil Rights movement broke discriminatory restrictions, African American 'strivers' have moved away from the city in increasing numbers; the Brookings Institution has noted the change over recent decades.<sup>94</sup>

### SUBURBS ATTACKED AS THEY GET MORE DIVERSE

#### Figure 12

Share of Population by Race/Ethnicity, Primary Cities and Suburbs, 1990-2010



Source: Author's analysis of 1990, 2000, and 2010 decennial census data

Change in Population by Race/Ethnicity, Primary Cities and Suburbs, 2000-2010





Immigration and the growth of non-Anglo groups have accelerated this process. Roughly 60 percent of Hispanics and Asians, notes Brookings, already live in suburbs; more than 40 percent of non-citizen immigrants now move directly to suburbs.<sup>95</sup> Given these circumstances, HUD's assault undermines the rapid organic integration — the 'multiculturalism of the streets' — already underway. America's suburbs have already become more diverse, and in many regions are actually more diverse than their adjacent core cities. That some of these suburbs may remain heavily tilted to one group or another does not prove discrimination but, rather, ignores evidence that, in some cases, people — including racial, religious, cultural, sexual preference and ethnic minorities — sometimes naturally cluster in neighborhoods that cater to their own specific needs.<sup>96</sup>

The head of HUD, Julian Castro, openly admits that "disparate impact" does not suggest racist intent, but seeks to impose ethnic and class guidelines even on communities that don't discriminate. For example, suburban Westchester County, just north of New York City, has been subject to this kind of policy mandate, even though its Latino and African-American population grew by 56 percent between 2000 and 2010, making it the fifth most diverse county in the state, and the most diverse county outside New York City.<sup>97</sup>

Overall, HUD would like 1,250 predominately white communities across the country to build affordable housing for minorities, who would be recruited to leave their existing neighborhoods — a policy almost certain to rouse opposition and worsen racial tensions in middle-income communities, already adapting to rapid increases in diversity.<sup>98</sup>

The policy is cast as fighting institutional racism, but, as one court has ruled, this often is not the case. The 1,250 communities can now be sued, or lose HUD funding, if their zoning and housing policies do not conform to HUD regulations. To many suburbanites of all ethnicities moving poorer people into their neighborhood can be seen as a threat to their property values, the quality of their schools and safety ---essentially undermining what is often their most important financial anchor of the poor "Section 8" tenants into middle class areas tends to drive up crime and reduce property values.99 In some cases, such as in Dubuque, Iowa, cities are being forced to expand such housing not only for people already in the area, but for populations living as far away as Chicago.<sup>100</sup> A more

market-based approach, tied to greater economic opportunity, has traditionally been the way minorities have achieved their housing goals; this more centrally-directed approach is likely to sow discord and discourage local attempts to address the shortage of housing.

The policy has produced at best mixed results for those who make these moves. Assessments of dispersal programs such as HOPE VI do not provide any evidence of households' increased access to employment or rises in economic independence after dispersal. The scattering of immigrants and refugees to small towns, in particular, has resulted in a spatial mismatch between residential location and job opportunities and services. And studies have shown that dispersal of poor minorities disrupts their original communities and destroys existing social networks, without concomitant development of new ties.101

In the coming years, enforced densification - against the clear preferences of most Americans - could cause intra-party rifts, even in areas that are as blue as indigo. The strongest opposition to infringement on communities of single family homes often has been from liberal bastions like the northern suburbs of Washington, D.C. and Westchester County, New York. It can be seen, ironically, in college towns like Davis, California and Boulder, Colorado, and in the 'greenest' areas, such as Marin County, north of San Francisco, where residents have objected to densification schemes which, they maintain, would undermine the "the small-town, semi-rural and rural character" of neighborhoods that drew them there in the first place.<sup>102</sup>

This does not mean that local communities should ignore the pressing needs for housing in their communities; this needs to be addressed, particularly using market-based incentives. But the control issue is critical: When it comes to preserving the character of our communities, there is often no red or blue. Yet, ultimately, every community may find that its future lies in the hands of HUD, the EPA, or the regional agencies charged with complying with these edicts.

## CALIFORNIA: THE NEW MODEL OF THE CENTRALIZED "COERCIVE" STATE?

The quest for expanded centralized control is not limited to Washington. In the last few decades, California, the nation's largest state, has emerged as the new role model for centralized government planning and ever-greater intrusiveness into the lives of citizens and companies. California has led the country in imposing state regulations on everything from gender rights, to fair pay, to new licensing requirements for a never ending panoply of professions.<sup>103</sup>

Some of the most intrusive regulations predate the two administrations of Governor Jerry Brown, including some in the 1960s and the 1970 enactment of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Together with Brown era regulations, they have led to a far more regulated, and increasingly expensive, housing market.<sup>104</sup>

### MIDDLE-INCOME HOUSING AFFORDABILITY UNITED STATES MAJOR METROPOLITAN AREAS: 1970-2015



In its passion to make California a model for planning, Brown has openly touted — in a way that is far outside the usual political rhetoric — "the coercive power of the state."105 Senate Bill-350 is a broad-reaching and comprehensive energy/environment law which originally had the aims of generating half of statewide electricity using renewable sources by the year 2030, and of using renewable sources to provide 50 percent of all California's energy by that year. That would be up from barely ten percent today; according to the state's own agencies, oil and gas still feeds well over 80 percent of California's energy consumption.<sup>106</sup> Due to opposition by Republicans and moderate Democrats, a more radical plan was withdrawn before the bill was eventually passed into law.107



Nonetheless, the remaining goals doubling energy efficiency and increasing statewide renewable energy usage to half of total usage — will have significant consequences. It will put more power in the hands of regulators, and will likely result in higher energy prices, as it already has.<sup>108</sup>

Many poor people, particularly in the state's interior, are already suffering from 'energy poverty'. High electricity prices may take away blue collar jobs, but they don't bother the affluent and well-educated nearly as much; better-off residents also tend to be located closer to the temperate coast where energy usage is lower. A recent study found that the average summer electric bill in rich, liberal and temperate Marin County was \$250 a month, while in the impoverished, hotter Central Valley communities the average bill was twice as high.<sup>109</sup>

What about the 'green jobs' which have been offered by Brown and others as a palliative for the negative impacts of energy policy? Overall, California leads the nation in green jobs, simply by dint of size, but on a per capita basis, notes a recent Brooking Institution study, California ranks about average. First place in wind energy goes to Texas, which boasts twice California's level of production.<sup>110</sup> Ironically, one reason for this mediocre performance lies in the environmental regulations that make California a tough place even for renewables.<sup>111</sup>

### CALIFORNIA EMISSIONS: COMPARISONS EMISSION REDUCTION GOALS & OUT-MIGRANT INCREASE

Figure 15



Emissions increases caused by Net Domestic Migration from California Versus CARB2020 Reduction Target from 2000-2004 Levels (tons of CO2e per annum)

## DENSITY, CALIFORNIA, AND THE END OF LOCAL CONTROL

One critical goal of the Brown GHG policy is to radically change how cities are allowed to develop, despite clear evidence that changing housing patterns have little to no influence on GHG levels. Under California's current regime any local dissent is increasingly futile, because state laws and regulations have pre-empted local political authority, particularly under Senate Bill-375, which requires regional plans that decrease GHG by increasing housing densities and forcing commuters from cars to transit. This despite clear evidence that they are not cost effective and, as a result, could be more economically damaging than more cost effective strategies. The state, by mandating that

localities create their own environmental guidelines that meet state standards, now effectively controls land use and zoning across California.<sup>112</sup>

California's messianic GHG reduction policies are largely based on the idea of changing how people live, notably to choosing an urban as opposed to suburban lifestyle. Market forces and consumer preferences are rarely considered, one reason these policies have stimulated much local opposition.<sup>113</sup> In the past, these decisions were debated within communities, some of whom might embrace more density for economic reasons or as a way to appeal to younger residents, accommodate seniors or provide housing for local workers.

These are all legitimate reasons to allow and even make it easier to build greater density, but forcing higher densities is another matter. But, for the purposes of this paper, the real problem lies in the pattern of shifting power and responsibility to higher levels of government. Today, notes Ontario (CA) Mayor Pro Tem Alan Wapner, planning decisions are being systematically usurped both by Sacramento and through regional bureaucracies such as the Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG) and the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG).<sup>114</sup>

This shift disturbs many conservatives, suburban moderates and even some progressives. "The Nation" contributor and Bay Area activist Zelda Bronstein has attacked ABAG's state-mandated plans as indicative of an insular, peremptory style of decision making. She accuses local politicians and planners of caving into what she refers to as "real estate Democrats" - local crony capitalists who benefit from densification policies. In the Bay Area, planners now mandate that all growth in the next 25 years will take place on four percent of the land, contrary to the largely suburban growth that long has characterized the region. It's hard to see how this approach will do anything but spike real estate prices even higher.

Packing people more closely together is

also opposed by many central city residents, including those living in San Francisco and Los Angeles who feel justifiably concerned that this approach could destroy the local ambience and strain critical infrastructure.<sup>116</sup>

Density certain has its place, and should be accommodated as required by market forces. But it is not an elixir for prosperity, as is commonly asserted.<sup>117</sup> Los Angeles, which has pursued densification as a priority for a decade, lags on virtually every key measurement — poverty, unemployment, education — compared to not only relatively prosperous Orange County, but even state-wide averages. Indeed, a recent city-appointed commission concluded, that LA is "becoming a City in decline."<sup>118</sup>

Throughout the state, restrictions on housing development have led to soaring house and energy prices, making California the state with the worst housing cost-adjusted poverty rate in the country, and home to roughly one-third of all welfare recipients.<sup>119</sup> California policies are important nationally, since they are widely seen as harbingers of the future.

### POVERTY IN CALIFORNIA V. U.S.: HOUSING COST ADJUSTED 2013



## THE DRIVE FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT CONSOLIDATION

Perhaps the quintessential case against localism and for regional governance, notes the Manhattan Institute's Howard Husock, was made by urban scholar and one-time Albuquerque mayor David Rusk in his 1993 book, "Cities without Suburbs:" "Segregating poor urban Blacks and Hispanics has spawned physically-decaying, revenue-strapped, poverty-impacted, crime-ridden 'inner cities.' These inner cities are isolated from their 'outer cities' — wealthier, growing, largely-white suburbs."<sup>120</sup>

In order to reverse these inequities, according to advocates of regional consolidation, there needs to be a diminution, if not total elimination, of the small town governments that are particularly common in the suburbs. The goal, suggests Jeff Madrick, Director of Policy Research at the New School, is to 'agglomerate' America through federal agencies, for both environmental and social reasons.<sup>121</sup>

Even as suburbs are increasingly diverse, in areas such as Minneapolis-St. Paul, regional governments, with the concurrence of HUD, have been busy setting goals to fully disperse poverty throughout the area's 186 municipalities. There, as in many other places, social engineering favors higher density development, by steering transportation funds away from roads, which would help the vast majority of commuters, and towards train travel used by often a small fraction of the population.<sup>122</sup>

The attempt to push consolidation and forced densification works against clear public preferences. Early migrants to the suburbs were mostly white but have been followed in recent years by upwardly mobile immigrants and minorities who are simply following the same shared preference. The move to the suburbs fostered a massive expansion in the number of municipalities. As reflected in data from the US Census of Governments, between 1952 and 2012 the number of US municipalities increased significantly, from about 16,500 to 19,500. Between 1950 and 2010, the population of core US cities (where city boundaries remained intact) declined by more than five million, while surrounding suburban area populations increased by 32 million. Moreover, as would be expected, those jurisdictions to which Americans were moving had smaller populations, per municipality, than those places that they were leaving behind.<sup>123</sup>

The move to suburbia expressed a clear preference for more accessible government. Sociologist Herbert Gans, in *The Levittowners*: Ways of Life and Politics in a New Suburban Community, studied households moving into what was then known as Levittown, New Jersey. Gans' survey research found that, for a significant group, the "principal aspiration for life in Levittown" lay in "[a] desire to have influence in civic affairs."<sup>124</sup>

Local governments have historically played a critical role in seeing to it that communities are built in ways that reflect local preferences. This includes a willingness to tax for specific infrastructure projects, critical services, and schools. There were more than 50,000 US independent school districts in 1957, compared with just over 13,000 in 2007.125 Public education in urban cores remains worse. Suburban schools tend to have more successful graduation rates and math achievement scores than city schools, and only about 19 percent of urban students seek higher education, compared to 70 percent of their suburban counterparts.126 These patterns can be found around the country, as illustrated by this map of schools in greater Philadelphia and Chicago.127

Finally, what smaller jurisdictions offer, albeit often imperfectly, is a way for citizens to affect policy. To run for office in a city of 5,000 or even 50,000 is very different than trying to get on the City Council of a municipality ten to twenty times bigger. Urbanites are also less likely than suburbanites to have been in their areas for long; overall, notes a recent Pew study, residents in dense, large cities are "the least" engaged and interested in local issues.<sup>128</sup>

Governance expert Robert Bish of the University of Victoria has observed that "...regional organizations may be governed by directly elected officials, but the scale of elections is such that the officials are much less likely to represent the views of the electorate and more disposed to the special interest groups that are willing to finance their election campaigns," adding, "...amalgamation of municipalities inevitably leads to less voter access to elected officials. This occurs simply because the ratio of voters to elected officials increases."<sup>129</sup>

Consistent with this effect, there may be lower levels of voter participation in consolidated municipalities.<sup>130</sup> Voter turnout, which has been declining in general, has fallen most in the larger cities, and less so in suburbs and smaller towns.<sup>131</sup>

As Husock observes, writing about suburbs:

One simply cannot dismiss the fact that Americans in great numbers have chosen, and continue to choose, such governmental units. Some aspects of suburban home-rule might even be brought, to good effect, to central cities.<sup>132</sup>

## IS CONSOLIDATION REALLY MORE EFFICIENT?

Beyond the clear problems that larger jurisdictions pose for democracy, advocates for consolidation, such as David Rusk, maintain that consolidation of governments, essentially eliminating suburban jurisdictions, makes regional governance more efficient.

This idea appears more popular with planners and pundits than it is with the public. As Rusk himself has admitted, consolidations are usually voted down (in the US, voter referenda are normally required before a consolidation can be implemented). Voters have approved less than 20 percent of such proposals, even when communities have held more than one referendum; for example, Knoxville has held three.<sup>133</sup>

Yet the evidence for consolidation greater efficiency and lower costs — have been repeatedly challenged by researchers who found that the advantages of consolidation was largely theoretical, and rested on weak or non-existent empirical foundations, and that savings were small or did not materialize.<sup>134</sup>

### SPENDING PER CAPITA BY GOVERNMENT SIZE: UNITED STATES MUNICIPALITIES 2008



One of the few major North American examples of local government consolidation took place in Canada in 1998. The Ontario government claimed that Toronto would save \$300 million annually. Some researchers have found that costs actually rose, while others have suggested much smaller savings.<sup>135</sup>

In 2011, Lawrence Martin and Jeannie Hock Schiff conducted research limited to peer-reviewed journal articles. Of the approximately 3,150 US county level governments they studied, approximately 50 have become amalgamated city-county governments. Martin and Schiff concluded, "Overall, the research provides little support for the efficiency argument."<sup>136</sup>

They also concluded that "evidence in support of consolidation to improve economic development is "less than convincing."<sup>137</sup>

There is also a lack of empirical evidence to support economies of scale in municipal service production. Elinor Ostrom, when accepting the Nobel Prize in Economics in 2009, noted, "... the evidence leads us to be skeptical of automatic acceptance of an assumption that larger scale always leads to improved performance."<sup>138</sup>

Indeed, US Census Bureau municipal data in four states and in the Chicago metropolitan area yielded the conclusion that lower spending per capita is associated with smaller units of government per populations. The data revealed the same general tendency on a national level.<sup>139</sup>

Debt, though often overlooked in government consolidation debates, is very important. Municipalities that have filed for bankruptcy or reached severe financial distress have often borrowed heavily.<sup>140</sup> Research in Pennsylvania and Ohio indicates that smaller governments have lower debt levels per capita, tend to be the most sustainable, and generally spend less per capita than larger governments.<sup>141</sup>

### DEPT PER CAPITA BY GOVERNMENT SIZE: UNITED STATES MUNICIPALITIES 2008





When municipal governments merge, the level of public services is normally harmonized to the level in the most expensive merging jurisdiction. This raises outlays, because higher service levels cost more, unless there are sufficient efficiency improvements.<sup>142</sup> The largest local government expenditure is labor compensation, generally accounting for 50 percent or more of annual operating expenses. To obtain sufficient efficiencies to offset the higher service levels would require staff reductions, which rarely occur in consolidations.<sup>143</sup>

Research indicates that reducing the number of elected officials — often cited as a big boost to local efficiency — can prove a false economy. Expenditures on elected officials are miniscule compared to overall budgets. Moreover, having fewer elected officials in a larger jurisdiction will require additional administrative staff to perform duties, and costs could rise. It also could be argued that the loss in democratic access from a merger is far more important than the small savings that might be achieved from reducing the number of elected officials.<sup>144</sup>

Finally, the consolidation of organizations and governments, researchers have noted, often fails to account for important political and human elements. Human nature and protection of turf, for example, cannot be ruled out. Nor can they be adequately measured or modeled in economic predictions of consolidation impacts.<sup>145</sup>

### ALTERNATIVES TO CONSOLIDATION

There are alternatives to municipal consolidation and the creation of ever-larger cities. In the past, regional issues were handled by county and state governments. Where a regional interest exists, special districts have been formed to deal with highways, transit, solid waste management, and regional planning. Most states provide municipal governments with broad latitude to cooperate with other governments through contracts, in order to better provide services.

The late Alvin Toffler's 1970 book, Future Shock, coined the term "adhocracy" to describe "... the fast-moving, information-rich, kinetic organization of the future, filled with transient cells and extremely mobile individuals." Such adhocracies, Toffler said, would be composed of experts from different fields who came together to swarm a project objective, rotate leadership during different phases, then disperse at the end of the project.<sup>146</sup> In California, the system of contract cities that make ad hoc arrangements with local governments has been widely hailed by participants, such as the city of Lakewood, for lowering costs and allowing local government to concentrate on areas closer to their competence.147 Municipalities can also competitively contract with private service providers.

The late Oregon Senator Mark Hatfield once compared the US political landscape to the dystopic world of Franz Kafka's novel The Castle, a realm of suffocating bureaucracy and robotic obedience to authority. Hatfield maintained that Americans, like the colonial-era revolutionists, must return authority to "the town meeting, the voluntary organizations, the PTA, the neighborhood association."<sup>148</sup>

## CREATING A LOCALLY-FOCUSED, DIGITAL DEMOCRACY

This may seem fanciful, but we do not necessarily have to continue on the road to hyper-centralization. We can have a leaner government that is more conducive to free enterprise, political diversity and entrepreneurship, if we employ policy creativity to get us there. Fortunately, advances in information technology could provide the tools to build a government that relies less on central authority than in the past.

Technology could prove the biggest opportunity for a more effective localism, but also could pose its greatest danger. The increasing availability of information could be used not to extend central control but allow for more efficient decentralization; it gives even small communities, not to mention individuals, new access to ever more sophisticated information.

Yet, as former Clinton administration Labor Secretary Robert Reich has pointed out, this promise has been diminished by the increasing consolidation of technology into a few hands, notably Apple, Google, Facebook, Microsoft and Amazon. The power of these companies to influence decisions and, increasingly, to determine the information that people can access, threatens decentralization.<sup>149</sup>

According to author John O. McGinnis, the very technology that allows for crowd sourcing, betting pools and creation of online communities could also help create a more decentralized, market driven economy:

Today, technology permits knowledge to bubble up from more dispersed sources filtered through more competitive mechanisms, sustaining a more decentralized system of social discovery. We can acquire general expertise without being beholden to particular experts.<sup>150</sup>

Digital technology, suggests Massachusetts Institute of Technology's David Winston, gives us a second chance to revive political conversation in this country. We can go beyond the Information Age to a new Age of Reason, he suggests, where people will demand, and will be able to receive, real-time information about political and policy choices. They will get much of this information not from large centralized media, but rather from diverse sources: the majority of young people don't even read newspapers, and the television industry is not doing much better than print journalism. In the new era, political communication will be twoway, and can be effectively targeted to discuss local issues.<sup>151</sup>

The economic historian Joel Mokya also has noted that the new technology is perfectly suited to decentralization. "Twentieth Century technology," he writes in Manhattan Institutes's City Journal, "was primarily about 'large' things," saying that large technology tended to encourage large bureaucracies and large government. Now technology has gone small - nanotechnology, genetic engineering, custom-engineered materials, "mass customization" through 3-D printing. Whereas large technology needed standardization, small technology makes it easier for individuals and communities to make choices best suited to them. "Standardization," he suggests, "yields to customization."152

Already there are some cities — Louisville, Austin, St. Paul, and Detroit — where local agencies are working to increase input from citizens via the internet. In all cases, there appears to be greater involvement in government decision-making, including from young people and minorities historically disengaged from politics. <sup>153</sup>

Although digital democracy holds great promise, it does not provide a good substitute for the direct process of local civic debate. Progressive writer Zelda Bronstein notes that despite all the digital world's conveniences and avoidance of debate, internet politicking may be good therapy for those who wish to express themselves, but it does not work so well at implementing change. Ultimately there is no substitute for democratic local governance:

As well understood by Tocqueville, nothing is more basic, "the habits of self-government" are only acquired through civic association. It's in local venues that the claims of democratic citizenship are most keenly felt.<sup>154</sup>

## CONCLUSION: THE END OF AMERICAN EXCEPTIONALISM

The current, seemingly relentless movement towards a concentration of power represents a dangerous break in American ways of governance, as well understood by de Tocqueville. Nothing is more basic to the American identity than, whenever feasible, leaving control of daily life to local communities, and, as much as is practical, to individuals. The rising new regulatory regime seeks decisively to change that equation. Although regulation is often necessary, this need not be the reason to expand the centrally-directed, regulatory state.

The great challenge here is to find ways to stop and reverse the gradual breakdown of our key civic and family institutions. This is not merely an issue for conservatives or fans of limited government; it is an area of agreement between libertarians like Charles Murray and progressives such as Robert Putnam. Both have denounced the erosion of what Murray calls a "common civic culture" that was built primarily around local institutions, families and neighborhoods. Both these thinkers tie this decline to the increase in inequality that is rightfully condemned so widely across the political spectrum.155

Although regulation is often necessary, this need not be expanded without restraint or reason.

### ENDNOTES

- 1. Tim Strangleman, "A Working-Class Brexit," New Geography, June 27, 2016, http://www.newgeography.com/content/005305-a-working-class-brexit.
- Robert M. Gates, "The kind of president we need," The Washington Post, December 3, 2015, https://www.washingtonpost. com/opinions/the-kind-of-president-weneed/2015/12/03/a4bd5e68-979e-11e5-94f0-9eeaff906ef3\_story.html.
- 3. New State Ice Co. v. Liebmann, 285 U.S. 262 (1932); Mike McGrath, "The New Laboratories of Democracy": How Local Government is Reinventing Civic Engagement," PACE, May 2009, http:// www.pacefunders.org/publications/ NewLaboratoriesofDemocracy.pdf.
- David Osborne, "Laboratories of Democracy": A New Breed of Governor Creates Models for Economic Growth (Cambridge, MA: Harvard Business School Press, 1990), xx-xiii.
- David Osborne, "Laboratories of Democracy": A New Breed of Governor Creates Models for Economic Growth (Cambridge, MA: Harvard Business School Press, 1990), xx-xiii.
- 6. Benjamin Looker, "Visions of Autonomy: The New Left and the Neighborhood Government Movement," Journal of Urban History 38 (2012): 577-598.
- Nancy B. Kurland, Sara Jane McCaffrey, and Douglas H. Hill, "The Localism Movement: Shared and Emergent Values," Journal of Environmental Sustainability 2 (2012).
- B. Judith D. Schwartz, "Buying Local. How It Boosts the Economy," TIME, June 11, 2009, http://content.time.com/time/ business/article/0,8599,1903632,00. html. Allison Aubrey, "Communities Get A Lift as Local Food Sales Surge to \$11 Billion a Year," NPR, June 30, 2015, http://www.npr.org/sections/thesalt/2015/06/30/418835394/communitiesget-a-lift-as-local-food-sales-surge-to-11billion-a-year.
- 9. "Communities Get A Lift."
- Heather K. Gerken, "A New Progressive Federalism," Democracy Journal, Spring 2012, http://democracyjournal.org/mag-

azine/24/a-new-progressive-federalism/.

- n. Denise D. Hall, "Community in the New Urbanism: Design Vision and Symbolic Crusade," International Association for the Study of Traditional Environments 9 (1998).
- Peter Calthorpe, Michael Corbett, Andres 12. Duany, Elizabeth Moule, Elizabeth Plater-Zyberk, and Stefanos Polyzoides, "Ahwahnee Principles for Resource-Efficient Communities," Local Government Commission, 1991, http://www.lgc.org/ about/ahwahnee/principles/; http:// www.newurbanism.org/. For example, one of New Urbanism's 10 solutions is that no "sprawl" development should be allowed. This is undefined, but to be seriously implemented would require direction from the national level over planning issues that have historically been local; Hall, "Community in the New Urbanism."
- 13. "Allstate/National Journal Heartland Monitor XXII Key Findings," FTI Consulting, February 27, 2015, http:// heartlandmonitor.com/wp-content/ uploads/2015/03/FTI-Allstate-NJ-Heartland-Poll-XXII-Findings-Memo-Feb-27-2015.pdf.
- Justin McCarthy, "Americans Still Trust Local Government More Than State," Gallup, September 22, 2014, http://www.gallup.com/poll/176846/americans-trust-local-government-state.aspx; Public Policy Institute of California, "Statewide Survey: Californians Say Voters Should Have Voice in Budget Choices," Noozhawk, June 2, 2011, http://www.noozhawk.com/ article/060211\_survey\_californians\_ say\_voters\_should\_have\_voice\_in\_budget\_choices.
- 15. Danny Crichton, "The Millennial Delusion," TechCrunch, June 27, 2015, http:// techcrunch.com/2015/06/27/the-millennial-delusion/.
- 16. "Study: Millennials less trusting than Gen X was," CBS News, September 4, 2014, http://www.cbsnews.com/news/ study-millennials-less-trusting-thangen-x-was/.
- 17. Caleb Diehl, "Harvard poll finds Millennials have little faith in government, media," USA Today, April 29, 2015, http://

college.usatoday.com/2015/04/29/harvard-poll-finds-millennials-have-littlefaith-in-government-media/.

- 18.
- 19. Chester Collins Maxey, "The Political Integration of Metropolitan Communities," National Municipal Review Vol. XI, No. 8 (1922), 229-253; Paul Studenski, The government of metropolitan areas in the United States (New York: National Municipal League, 1930); Luther Gullick, The Metropolitan Problem and American Ideas (New York: Knopf, 1962); G. Ross Stephens and Nelson Wikstrom, Metropolitan Government and Governance (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000).
- Elinor Ostrom, "Metropolitan reform: Propositions derived from two traditions," Social Science Quarterly (1972): 474-493; David Rusk, "Cities without Suburbs" (Washington, D.C.: The Woodrow Wilson Center Press, 1993).
- 21. Michael Howell-Moroney "The Tiebout hypothesis 50 years later: Lessons and lingering challenges for metropolitan governance in the 21st century," Public Administration Review 68 (2008), 97-109; Gregory Weiher, The Fractured Metropolis: Political Fragmentation and Metropolitan Segregation (Albany: State University of New York Press, 1991); David Lowery, "A Transactions Costs Model of Metropolitan Governance: Allocation vs. Redistribution in Urban America," Journal of Public Administration 10 (2000): 49-78.
- J.J. Carruthers, "Growth at the Fringe: The Influence of Political Fragmentation in the United States Metropolitan Areas," Papers in Regional Science 82 (2003): 475-499; Richard Dye and Theresa McGuire, "Property taxes, schools, and sprawl," State Tax Notes 18 (2000).
- 23. Roger Weber, "Urban Future: The Revolt Against Central Planning," New Geography, July 7, 2016, http://www.newgeography.com/content/005311-urban-futurethe-revolt-against-central-planning.
- 24. Benedict S. Jimenez and Rebecca Hendrick, "Is government consolidation the answer?" State and Local Government Review 42 (2010): 258-270.
- 25. James Heartfield, "Working Class British

Voters Led the European Union Rejection," New Geography, June 24, 2016, http://www.newgeography.com/content/005302-working-class-british-voters-led-european-union-rejection.

- Craig Whitlock, "France Rejects Eu-26. ropean Constition," The Washington Post, May 30, 2005, http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/ article/2005/05/29/AR2005052900644. html; Peter Foster, "Denmark's EU Referendum is a blow to David Cameron." The Telegraph, December 4, 2015, http:// www.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/ europe/denmark/12032958/Denmarks-EU-referendum-is-a-blow-to-David-Cameron.html; Bruce Stokes, "Euroskepticism Beyond Brexit," Pew Research Center," June 7, 2016, http://www.pewglobal. org/2016/06/07/euroskepticism-beyond-brexit/; Matthew Holehouse, "The Brexit contagion: How France, Italy and the Netherlands now want their referendum too," The Telegraph, June 23, 2016, http://www.telegraph.co.uk/ news/2016/06/23/the-brexit-contagionhow-france-italy-and-the-netherlandsnow-wa/.
- 27. See John Adams's recounting of the history of Rome in Defence of the Constitutions:

"We may affirm the contrary; that a standing authority in an absolute monarch, or an hereditary aristocracy, is less friendly to the monster than a simple popular government; and that it is only in a mixed government, of three independent orders, of the one, the few, and the many, and three separate powers, the legislative, executive, and judicial, that all sorts of factions, those of the poor and the rich, those of the gentlemen and common people, those of the one, the few, and the many, can at all times be quelled. " "...The only remedy is to take away the power, by controlling the selfish avidity of the governor, by the senate and house; of the senate, by the governor and house; and of the [58] house, by the governor and senate. "

- 28. Charles and Mary Beard, The Rise of American Civilization (New York: Mac-Millan and Company, 1930), 334-335.
- 29. Michael Lind, Land of Promise (New

York: HarperCollins Publishers, 2012), 454.

- 30. Roy P. Basler, The Collected Works of Abraham Lincoln, Volume 2 (New Brunswick, New Jersey: Rutgers University Press, 1953), 220.
- 31. Robert Maxwell, "The Progressive Bridge: Reform Sentiment in the United States between the New Freedom and the New Deal," Indiana Magazine of History 63 (1967): 95; Richard Hofstadter, The Age of Reform (New York: Vintage Books, 1955).
- 32. Theodore Roosevelt, Theodore Roosevelt: An Autobiography (New York: The Macmillan Company, 1913), 371-380.
- 33. James Q. Wilson, "The rise of the bureaucratic state," The Public Interest, Fall 1975, http://www.nationalaffairs.com/ public\_interest/detail/the-rise-of-thebureaucratic-state.
- 34. Wilson, "The rise of the bureaucratic State."
- Hofstadter, Age of Reform, 313; Beard and Beard, The Rise of American Civilization, 608.
- 36. Martha J. Bailey and Nicolas J. Duquette, "How Johnson Fought the War on Poverty: The Economics and Politics of Funding at the Office of Economic Opportunity," The Journal of Economic History, Cambridge University Press, vol. 74(02), 351-388, 2014.
- 37. William Schambra, "Obama and the Policy Approach," National Affairs, Fall 2009, http://www.nationalaffairs.com/ publications/detail/obama-and-the-policy-approach.
- Christopher Lasch, The True and Only Heaven (New York: Norton, 1991), 467.
- 39. "Nixon, Price Controls, and the Gold Standard," excerpt from The Commanding Heights by Daniel Yergin and Joseph Stanislaw, 1997 ed., 60-64, http://www. pbs.org/wgbh/commandingheights/ shared/minitext/ess\_nixongold.html.
- 40. Wilson, "The rise of the bureaucratic state."
- 41. Irving Stern, "Government Employment Trends, 1929 to 1956," Monthly Labor Review 80 (1957): 811-815.
- 42. William J. Clinton, "Address before a Joint

Session of the Congress on the State of the Union," The American Presidency Project, January 23, 1996, online by Gerhard Peters and John T. Woolley, http://www. presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=53091.

- 43. "The New Rules," PBS, 2002, http://www. pbs.org/wgbh/pages/frontline/shows/ schools/nochild/nclb.html.
- 44. Christopher Chantrill, "US Government Spending History from 1900," usgovernmentspending.com, June 6, 2016, http:// www.usgovernmentspending.com/ past\_spending; Christopher Chantrill, "Government Spending Chart," usgovernmentspending.com, June 6, 2016, http://www.usgovernmentspending. com/spending\_chart\_1900\_2016USp\_17s2li011mcn\_F0f.
- 45. Richard A. Epstein and Mario Loyola, "The United State of America," The Atlantic, July 31, 2014, http://www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2014/07/ the-federal-takeover-of-state-governments/375270/.
- 46. James L. Gattuso and Diane Katz, "Red Tape Rising: Six Years of Escalating Regulation Under Obama," Heritage Foundation, May 11, 2015, http://www.heritage. org/research/reports/2015/05/red-taperising-six-years-of-escalating-regulationunder-obama.
- 47 48 Mario Loyola, "EPA's Unprecedented Power Grab," National Affairs, Spring 2015, http://www.heritage.org/research/ reports/2015/05/red-tape-rising-sixvears-of-escalating-regulation-underobama; Former Rep. Charlie Stenholm, "How Tip O'Neill and Ronald Reagan Would Make This Congress Work," The Hill, March 12, 2015, http://thehill. com/blogs/pundits-blog/lawmakernews/235409-how-ronald-reagan-andtip-oneill-would-make-this-congress; For example, the working relationship between President Bill Clinton and Speaker Newt Gingrich. Steven Gillon, "The Pact Between Bill Clinton and Newt Gingrich," U.S. News & World Report, May 29, 2008, http://www.usnews.com/ news/articles/2008/05/29/the-pact-between-bill-clinton-and-newt-gingrich; David Bernstein, "Obama administration lawlessness: the top five," The Washington Post, November 2, 2015, https://www.

washingtonpost.com/news/volokh-conspiracy/wp/2015/11/02/obama-administration-lawlessness-the-top-five/.

- 48. Ross Douthat, "The Making of an Imperial President," New York Times, November 22, 2014, http://www.nytimes. com/2014/11/23/opinion/sunday/rossdouthat-the-making-of-an-imperialpresident.html?\_r=0.
- 49. Rachel Bovard, "President Obama's Climate Change Power Grab," Real Clear Policy, October 8, 2015, http://www. realclearpolicy.com/blog/2015/10/08/ president\_obamas\_climate\_change.
- Tim Devaney, "Obama's year in regulations," The Hill, December 26, 2015, http://thehill.com/regulation/263980-obamas-year-in-regulations; Lydia Wheeler, "Wave of regulation looms in 2016," The Hill, December 29, 2015, http://thehill.com/regulation/263794-wave-of-regulations-looms-in-2016.
- 51. Jonathan Allen, "Hillary Clinton's sweeping executive power agenda is unprecedented," Vox, October 8, 2015, http://www.vox.com/2015/10/8/9480589/ hillary-clinton-executive-action; Jon Ward, "The Imperial President, 2.0? Ryan is troubled by Trump's views on executive power," Yahoo! News, May 6, 2016, https://www.yahoo.com/news/ the-imperial-presidency-20-ryan-is-troubled-by-221506666.html.
- 52. Aaron M. Renn, "A \$63 Million High School Football Stadium Shows Changing Republican Values," Urbanophile, May 13, 2016, http://www.urbanophile. com/2016/05/13/a-63-million-highschool-football-stadium-shows-changing-republican-values/. ; Aaron M. Renn, "Is There Really a Red State 'War on Cities'?" Urbanophile, April 19, 2016, http:// www.urbanophile.com/2016/04/19/isthere-really-a-red-state-war-on-cities/
- William Schambra, "Obama and the Policy Approach," National Affairs, Fall 2009, http://www.nationalaffairs.com/ publications/detail/obama-and-the-policy-approach.
- 54. James Madison, The Federalist No. 10, in The Federalist Papers, ed. Jon Roland, Constitution Society, 1998, http://www.

constitution.org/fed/federa10.htm.

- 55. Schambra, "Obama and the Policy Approach."
- 56. Venkatesh Rao, "Why Solving Climate Change Will Be Like Mobilizing for War," The Atlantic, October 15, 2015, http://www.theatlantic.com/science/archive/2015/10/why-only-a-technocraticrevolution-can-win-the-climate-changewar/410377/;
- 57. Joshua Benton, "The game of concentration: The Internet is pushing America news business to New York and the coasts," Nieman Lab, March 25, 2016, http://www.niemanlab.org/2016/03/ the-game-of-concentration-the-internetis-pushing-the-american-news-business-to-new-york-and-the-coasts/; Joel Kotkin, "Political, economic power grow more concentrated," The Orange County Register, December 22, 2013, http:// www.ocregister.com/articles/government-594346-power-federal.html.
- 58. "Confidence in Institutions," Gallup, June 9-12, 2011, http://www.gallup.com/ poll/1597/confidence-institutions.aspx; Frank Newport, "Half in U.S. Continue to Say Gov't Is an Immediate Threat," Gallup, September 21, 2015, http://www. gallup.com/poll/185720/half-continue-say-gov-immediate-threat.aspx.
- 59. "Beyond Distrust: How Americans View Their Government," Pew Research Center, November 23, 2015, http://www. people-press.org/2015/11/23/beyond-distrust-how-americans-view-their-government/.
- Sheri Ledbetter, "What Americans Fear Most – Chapman University's second annual Survey of American Fears released," Chapman University Press Room, October 13, 2015, https://blogs.chapman. edu/press-room/2015/10/13/what-americans-fear-most-chapman-universitys-second-annual-survey-of-american-fears-released/.
- <sup>61.</sup> James M. Buchanan, The Collected Works of James M. Buchanan: Volume 1 (Indianapolis: Liberty Fund, Inc., 1999).
- 62. "2014 Annual Report: Additional Opportunities to Reduce Fragmentation, Overlap, and Duplication and Achieve Other Financial Benefits," United States

Government Accountability Office, April 2014, http://www.gao.gov/assets/670/662327.pdf.

- 63. Brianna Ehley," \$45 Billion Wasted in Redundant Federal Programs: GAO," The Fiscal Times, April 9, 2014, http://www.thefiscaltimes.com/Articles/2014/04/09/45-Billion-Wasted-Redundant-Federal-Programs-GAO.
- 64. "2014 Annual Report."
- 65. Brianna Ehley, "Government Wastes More than the Cost of the Sequester," The Fiscal Times, April 14, 2013, http://www. thefiscaltimes.com/Articles/2013/04/14/ Government-Wastes-More-than-the-Cost-of-the-Sequester.
- 66. Brent Kendell, "Justice Department Doesn't Deliver on Promise to Attack Monopolies," The Wall Street Journal, November 7, 2015, http://www.wsj.com/ articles/justice-department-doesnt-deliver-on-promise-to-attack-monopolies-1446892202; Ruth Simon, "Big Banks Cut Back on Loans to Small Business," The Wall Street Journal, November 26, 2015, http://www.wsj.com/articles/ big-banks-cut-back-on-small-business-1448586637.
- 67. "Mission creep at the Fed," "The Economist", August 7, 2008 ,http://www. economist.com/node/11897000; George Gilder, "The Fed 'is a god that has failed'," CNBC, April 5, 2016, http://www.cnbc. com/2016/04/05/the-fed-is-a-god-thathas-failed-george-gilder-commentary. html.
- 68. "Historical Poverty Tables: People and Families: 1959 o 2014," United States Census Bureau, May 12, 2016, https:// www.census.gov/data/tables/time-series/ demo/income-poverty/historical-poverty-people.html.
- 69. Christopher Chantrill, "US Welfare Spending History from 1900," usgovernmentspending.com, 2015, http://www. usgovernmentspending.com/welfare\_ spending; Dylan Matthews, "Poverty in the 50 years since 'The Other America', in five charts," The Washington Post, July 11, 2012, https://www.washingtonpost.com/ blogs/wonkblog/wp/2012/07/11/povertyin-the-50-years-since-the-other-americain-five-charts.

- Courtney A. Collins, "Reading, Writing, 70 and Regulations: A Survey of the Expanding Federal Role in Elementary and Secondary Education Policy," (working paper, Mercatus Center at George Mason University, August 2014), http:// mercatus.org/sites/default/files/Collins-Reading-Writing-Regulations.pdf; Christopher Chantrill, "US Education Spending History from 1900," usgovernmentspending.com, http://www. usgovernmentspending.com/education\_ spending; Richard Vedder, "7 Ways the Department of Education Made College Worse," Foundation for Economic Education, November 4, 2015, https://fee.org/ articles/7-ways-the-department-of-education-made-college-worse/?mkt tok=3RkMMIWWfF9wsRonvKTIZKXonjHpfsX87esrUKOg38431UFwdcjKPmjr1YIFTsd0aPvOAgobGp5I5FEBS7TYRKtst6cMUw%3D%3D; David O. Lucca, Taylor Nadauld, and Karen Shen, "Credit Supply and the Rise in College Tuition: Evidence from the Expansion in Federal Student Aid Programs," Federal Reserve Bank of New York Staff Reports, March 2016, https://www.newyorkfed.org/medialibrary/media/research/staff\_reports/ sr733.pdf.
- James J. Heckman and Paul A. LaFon-71. taine, "The American High School Graduation Rate: Trends and Levels," The Institute for the Study of Labor, Discussion Paper No. 3216, December 2007, http://ftp.iza.org/dp3216.pdf.
- Terrance F. Ross, "Where School Dollars 72. Go to Waste," The Atlantic, January 30, 2015, http://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2015/01/where-school-dollars-go-to-waste/384949/.
- John Paul Ryan, "Is Federal Power 73 Growing or Shrinking? New Debates on Federalism," Social Education 65 (2001): 448-453, http://www.uvm.edu/~dguber/ POLS21/articles/ryan.htm.
- R. Shep Melnick, "A Federal Raid on 74. Local Schools," The Wall Street Journal, September 13, 2015, http://www.wsj. com/articles/a-federal-raid-on-localschools-1442183180.
- Alex Newman, "Obama's 'Community 75 Schools' Aim to Replace Parents," The New American, August 12, 2015, http://

www.thenewamerican.com/culture/education/item/21395-obamas-communityschools-aim-to-replace-parents.

- Matt Miller, "First, Kill All the Board 76 Schools," The Atlantic, January/February 2008, http://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2008/01/first-kill-all-theschool-boards/306579/.
- Connor Boyack, "Federal government 77. tells parents they are inferior," Deseret News, January 5, 2016, http://www. deseretnews.com/article/865644826/ Connor-Boyack-Federal-government-tells-parents-they-are-inferior. html?pg=all.
- Heather Wilhelm, "America's daddy 78. issues," Chicago Tribune, January 29, 2016, http://www.chicagotribune.com/ news/opinion/commentary/ct-progressives-family-values-children-wilhelm-perspec-0129-20160128-story.html
- Robert Maranto and Michael Crouch, "Ig-79 noring an Inequality Culprit: Single-Parent Families." The Wall Street Journal. April 20, 2014, http://www.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424052702303603904579493 612156024266.
- Harold Brown, "Mission creep at En-80. vironmental Protection Agency," Early County News, March 3, 2011http://www. earlycountynews.com/news/2011-03-02/ Editorials/Mission\_creep\_at\_Environmental\_Protection\_Agency.html; Latisha Petteway, "EPA Awards \$7 Million to Study Effects of Pollution Exposures and Social Stressors on Communities / Research grants aim to gather comprehensive community wide data on human health impacts," EPA, January 11, 2011, https://vosemite.epa.gov/opa/admpress. nsf/d0cf6618525a9efb85257359003fb-69d/1cd988e5716fab8985257815005b-514b!OpenDocument.
- David L. Chandler, "Natural gas can play 81. major role in greenhouse gas reduction," MIT News, June 9, 2011, http://news.mit. edu/2011/natural-gas-full-report-0609.
- Jim Manzi and Peter Wehner, "Conser-82. vative and Climate Change," National Affairs, Summer 2015, http://www. nationalaffairs.com/publications/detail/ conservatives-and-climate-change; Bob Lukefahr and Balu Balagopal, "Forget

Electric Cars. Natural Gas is Powering Vehicles in Texas," The Wall Street Journal, September 26, 2014, https://www.google. com/#q=forget+electric+cars+wsj.

- 83. Wendell Cox, "Urban Containment: The Social and Economic Consequences of Limiting Housing and Travel Options," Reason Foundation, Policy Study No. 449, March 2016, http://reason.org/files/urban\_containment\_housing\_travel\_policy.pdf; Cheryl Kaften, "Obama is not a 'loss leader', according to independent audit of DOE loans," pv magazine, February 14, 2012, http://www.pv-magazine. com/news/details/beitrag/obama-is-nota-loss-leader--according-to-independentaudit-of-doe-loans\_100005755/#axzz480HRRxUw.
- 84. Emily Lyons, "Muddy Clarity for Farming: EPA's proposed "Waters of the United States" Definition," Vermont Journal of Environmental Law, May 20, 2014, http://vjel.vermontlaw.edu/muddy-clarity-farming-epas-proposed-waters-united-states-definition-2/; Jenny Hopkinson, "Obama's Water War," Politico, May 28, 2015, http://www.politico.com/ story/2015/05/epa-waterways-wetlands-rule-118319.
- B5. Jack Gerard, "Needless EPA rules threaten jobs, hurt environment," Providence Journal, April 25, 2016, http://www.providencejournal.com/article/20160425/ OPINION/160429636; "EPA ozone rules will hurt Yuma County growth," Yuma Sun, May 15, 2016, http://www.yumasun. com/opinion/epa-ozone-rules-will-hurtyuma-county-growth/article\_549d80e8laed-11e6-bb26-237ac5ca7a77.html.
- 86. Jon Creyts, Anton Derkach, Scott Nyquist, Ken Ostrowski, and Jack Stephenson, "Reducing U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions: How Much at What Cost?" McKinsey & Company, December 2007, http:// www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/ sustainability-and-resource-productivity/our-insights/reducing-us-greenhouse-gas-emissions.
- 87. Wendell Cox, "Traffic Congestion, Time, Money & Productivity," New Geography, September 18, 2009, http://www.newgeography.com/content/001044-traffic-congestion-time-money-productivity.
- 88. Cox, "Urban Containment"; Christopher

Jones, and Daniel M. Kammen, "Spatial Distribution of U.S. Household Carbon Footprints Reveals Suburbanization Undermines Greenhouse Gas Benefits of Urban Population Density," Environmental Science and Technology Vol. 48, No. 2 (2014): 895-902. http://pubs. acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/es4034364?journalCode=esthag; Wendell Cox and Adrian Moore, "Urban Containment: The Social and Economic Consequences of Limiting Housing and Travel Options," Reason Foundation, March 7, 2016, http:// reason.org/news/show/urban-containment-the-social-travelSee.

- 89. "Regulatory Impact Analysis: Final Rulemaking for 2017-2025 Light-Duty Vehicle Greenhouse Gas Emission Standards and Corporate Average Fuel Economy Standards," EPA, August 2012, https://www3.epa.gov/otaq/climate/documents/420r12016.pdf.
- <sup>90.</sup> The original figures are stated in 2005 Euros and converted here to 2015\$. See: "Pathways to a Low-Carbon Economy" Version 2 of the Global Greenhouse Gas Abatement Cost Curve," McKinsey and Company, 2010, http://www.mckinsey. com/~/media/McKinsey/Business%20 Functions/Sustainability%20and%20 Resource%20Productivity/Our%20Insights/Pathways%20to%20a%20low%20 carbon%20economy/Pathways%20to%20 a%20low%20carbon%20economy.
- 91. Net cost per metric tonne calculated from Moving Cooler: An Analysis of Transportation Strategies for Reducing Greenhouse Gas Emissions(Washington, D.C.: Urban Land Institute, 2009).
- 92. Goetz, 2003, p. 85; Sarkissian, 1976, p. 240 (not sure which books – need that info in order to complete cite)
- John Sullivan, "African American Moving South – and to the Suburbs," Race Poverty & The Environment, 2011, http://reimaginerpe.org/18-2/sullivan; Alexander von Hoffman and John Felkner, "The Historical Origins and Causes of Urban Decentralization in the United States", Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, January 2002, http://www. jchs.harvard.edu/research/publications/ historical-origins-and-causes-urban-decentralization-united-states.

- 94. William H. Frey, "Melting Pot Cities and Suburbs: Racial and Ethnic Change in Metro America in the 2000s," Metropolitan Policy Program at Brookings, May 2011, http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/research/files/papers/2011/5/04%20 census%20ethnicity%20frey/0504\_census\_ethnicity\_frey.pdf.
- 95. Richard A. Epstein, "The Folly of 'Fair' Housing," Hoover Institution, July 13, 2015, http://www.hoover.org/research/ folly-fair-housing.
- 96. Manhattan is 47% white-non-hispanic, and Westchester is 56%. "nearly as many minorities" may be a stretch.
- Michael Barone, "HUD's 'Disparate 97. Impact' War on Suburban America," National Review, July 21, 2015, http:// www.nationalreview.com/article/421406/ hud-disparate-impact-suburban-racism; Julian Castro, "In America, geography has consequences," The Detroit News, July 23, 2015, http://www.detroitnews. com/story/opinion/2015/07/23/castro-geography-matters-america/30530489/; "Westchester USA," The Wall Street Journal, July 7, 2014, http://www.wsj.com/ articles/westchester-usa-1404771358; Jason L. Riley, "Obama Wants to Pick the Clintons' Neighbors," The Wall Street Journal, June 16, 2015, http://www.wsj. com/articles/obama-wants-to-pick-theclintons-neighbors-1434494645.
- 98. Paul Sperry, "Obama Administration Mandates Diversity in Suburbs," Investor's Business Daily, July 8, 2015, http://www.investors.com/ obama-hud-fair-housing-rules-mandates-neighborhood-diversity/.
- 99. Stanley Kurtz, "How Obama Stole Dubuque," National Review, January 13, 2016, http://www.nationalreview.com/ corner/429693/affh-preview-obamashud-takes-over-dubuque-iowa.
- Edward Goetz, "Desegregation in 3D: Displacement, Dispersal, and Development in American Public Housing," Housing Studies 25 (2010): 150; Gideon Bolt and Ronald van Kempen, "Ethnic Segregation and Residential Mobility: Relocations of Minority Ethnic Groups in the Netherlands," Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 36 (2010): 333.

- 101. Alicia Kurimska, "Looking Back: The Ideal Communist City," New Geography, January 20, 2015, http://www.newgeography.com/content/004830-looking-backthe-ideal-communist-city.
- 102. SB 703, Senator Mark Leno, February 27, 2015, http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/ pub/15-16/bill/sen/sb\_0701-0750/ sb\_703\_bill\_20150227\_introduced.html; Samantha Masunaga, "California equal pay bill may be toughest in nation," Los Angeles Times, September 2, 2015, http:// www.latimes.com/business/la-fi-equalpay-20150902-story.html; Sal Rodriguez, "Does every occupation need state regulation?" The Orange County Register, October 17, 2015, http://www.ocregister. com/articles/brown-687832-bill-requirements.html.
- 103. See; Stephen L. Mehay, "The expenditure effects of municipal annexation," Public Choice 36 (1981): 53-61, http:// link.springer.com/article/10.1007/ BF00163770; David Friedman and Jennifer Hernandez, "California Environmental Quality Act, Greenhouse Gas Regulation and Climate Change," Chapman University Center for Demographics and Policy, 2015, http://www.chapman.edu/ wilkinson/\_files/GHGfn.pdf and William A. Fischel, Regulatory Takings: Law, Economics, and Politics (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1995).
- David Siders, "Jerry Brown: 'Never underestimate the coercive power of the central state'," The Sacramento Bee, December 7, 2015, http://www.sacbee.com/news/ politics-government/capitol-alert/article48466200.html, Rob Nikolewski, "Jerry Brown Touts 'Coercive Power of the State' on Climate Change," Reason Foundation, December 13, 2015, http://reason.com/ archives/2015/12/13/jerry-brown-toutscoercive-power-of-the.
- 105. "Renewable Energy Overview," California Energy Commission, December 22, 2015, http://www.energy.ca.gov/renewables/tracking\_progress/documents/ renewable.pdf.
- 106. "Renewable Energy Overview."
- 107. Clean Energy and Pollution Reduction Act of 2015, SB 350, Chapter 547, October 7, 2015, https://leginfo.legislature. ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill\_

id=201520160SB350; Chris Megerian and Javier Panzar, "Gov. Brown signs climate change bill to spur renewable energy, efficiency standards," Los Angeles Times, October 7, 2015, http://www.latimes.com/ politics/la-pol-sac-jerry-brown-climatechange-renewable-energy-20151007-story.html.

- 108. Robert Bryce, "How California Promotes Energy Poverty," Manhattan Institute for Policy Research, August 3, 2015, https:// www.manhattan-institute.org/html/ how-california-promotes-energy-poverty-6168.html.
- 109. Mark Muro, Jonathan Rothwell, and Devashree Saha, "Sizing the Clean Economy: A National and Regional Green Jobs Assessment," Brookings, July 13, 2011, http://www.brookings.edu/research/reports/2011/07/13-clean-economy.
- 110. "In case you missed it: LA Times columnist George Skelton says CEQA reform is needed: 'Stop Using Environmental Laws to Kill Jobs'," CEQA Working Group, September 8, 2015, http://ceqaworkinggroup. com/category/news/press-releases.
- Franz Listen, "The Trouble with Senate Bill 375," San Rafael Patch, September 15, 2013, http://patch.com/california/sanrafael/the-trouble-with-senate-bill-375.
- 112. Richard Halstead, "Officials approve controversial Plan Bay Area as Marin opponents turn out for Oakland vote," Marin Independent Journal, July 18, 2013, http:// www.marinij.com/article/ZZ/20130718/ NEWS/130718856.
- 113. Interview with Joel Kotkin.
- 114. Zelda Bronstein, "The false promise of regional governance," 48 Hills, May 12, 2015, http://www.48hills.org/2015/05/12/ the-false-promise-of-regional-governance/.
- 115. "Group begins petition drive for Neighborhood Integrity Initiative," LA Independent, April 15, 2016, http:// laindependent.com/group-begins-petition-drive-for-neighborhood-integrity-initiative/. Gabriel Metcalf, "What's the matter with San Francisco?" City Lab, July 23, 2015, http://www.citylab.com/ housing/2015/07/whats-the-matter-withsan-francisco/399506/

- 116. Sarah Goodyear, "A Ranking of the Most Sprawling U.S. Metro Areas, and Why You Should Care," City Lab, April 2, 2014, http://www.citylab.com/work/2014/04/ ranking-most-sprawling-us-metro-areasand-why-you-should-care/8782/.
- 117. "A Time for Truth," Los Angeles 2020 Commission, December 2013, http:// www.la2020reports.org/reports/A-Time-For-Truth.pdf.
- Michael Gardner, "Is California the welfare capital?" The San Diego Tribune, July 28, 2012, http://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/news/2012/jul/28/ welfare-capital-of-the-us/; Wendell Cox, "California: 'Land of Poverty'," New Geography, August 21, 2015, http://www. newgeography.com/content/005026-california-land-poverty.
- David Rusk, "Cities without Suburbs" (Washington, D.C.: Woodrow Wilson Center Press, 1993), 1.
- 120. Dean Baker, James Hamilton and Jeff Madrick, "Teach America: Government Can Work," Salon, January 13, 2009, http://www.salon.com/2009/01/13/stimulus\_2/.
- 121. Katherine Kersten, "Turning the Twin Cities into Sim City," The Wall Street Journal, May 19, 2014, http://www.wsj.com/ articles/SB10001424052702304536104579 560042268686598.
- 122. United States Census Bureau, "Metropolitan and Micropolitan: Core Based Statistical Areas (CBSAs) and Combined Statistical Areas (CSAs)," February 1, 2013, http://www.census.gov/population/ metro/data/def.html.; Husock essay to be published next year in the collection Infinite Suburbia, editors Alan Berger, Celina Balderas Guzman and Joel Kotkin (Princeton University Press, 2017).
- 123. Herbert J. Gans, The Levittowners: Ways of Life and Politics in a New Suburban Community (New York: Pantheon Books, 1967), 39.
- 124. "Finances of School Districts," US Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 1957; "Local Governments and Public School Systems by Type and State," US Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 2007, http://www.census.gov/ govs/cog/GovOrgTab03ss.html.

- 125. Sam Dillon, "Large Urban-Suburban Gap Seen in Graduation Rates," The New York Times, April 22, 2009, http://www. nytimes.com/2009/04/22/education/ 22dropout.html?\_r=0; Whitney Wright, "The Disparities between Urban and Suburban American Education Systems: A Comparative Analysis Using Social Closure Theory," Howard University, 2012, http://www.efc.gwu.edu/wp-content/ uploads/2015/08/disparaties.pdf.
- 126. Sarah Butrymowicz, "Struggling cities and excelling suburbs: a repeated pattern around the country," The Hechinger Report, September 28, 2015, http:// hechingerreport.org/struggling-citiesand-excelling-suburbs-a-repeated-pattern-around-the-country/.
- 127. Carolyn Miller, Lee Rainie, Kristen Purcell, Amy Mitchell, and Tom Rosenstiel, "How people get local news and information in difference communities," Pew Research Center, September 26, 2012, http://www.pewinternet.org/2012/09/26/ how-people-get-local-news-and-information-in-different-communities/.
- 128. Bish, "Local Government Amalgamations."
- 129. Fred Seamon, and Richard C. Feiock, "Political participation and city county consolidation: Jacksonville-Duval county," International Journal of Public Administration 18, no. 11 (1995): 1741-1752.
- 130. Gene Ulm, "How the Democrats Lost: The Failed Ground Game," Public Opinion Strategies, November 12, 2014, http://pos. org/2014/11/how-the-democrats-lostthe-failed-ground-game/.
- 131. From upcoming essay in the forthcoming Infinite Suburbia (Princeton University Press, 2017).
- Pat Hardy, "The Consolidation of City and County Governments: A Look at the History and Outcome-Based Research of These Efforts," Municipal Technical Advisory Service, October 22, 2012, http://www.mtas.tennessee.edu/Knowledgebase.nsf/0/F0DA25B83B3AE2E-A85257A9F006860E5/\$FILE/consolidation%20research%20and%20history%20 paper.doc.
- 133. Ostrom, "Metropolitan reform"; Robert L Bish, "Local Government Amalgama-

tions, Discredited Nineteenth-Century Ideals Alive in the Twenty-First", The Urban Paper, C.D. Howe Institute Commentary, No. 150, Toronto, March 2001. Available online at http://www.cdhowe. org/pdf/bish.pdf.

- Andrew Sancton, Merger Mania (Mon-134 treal: McGill-Queen's University Press, 2000) and Harvey Schwartz, The Financial Implications of Amalgamation: The Case of the City of Toronto. No. 2001\_01. 2001. Available online at http://econ. laps.yorku.ca/files/2015/10/MontrealPaper3.pdf, and Richard M. Bird and Enid Slack, Merging Municipalities: Is Bigger Better?, No. 14. University of Toronto, Institute on Municipal Finance and Governance, 2013. Available online at http://munkschool.utoronto.ca/imfg/uploads/219/imfg\_no\_14\_slack\_birdr3\_online\_final.pdf.
- 135. Lawrence L. Martin and Jeannie Hock Schiff, "City-County Consolidations: Promise Versus Performance," State and local government review (2011), doi: 0160323X11403938.
- 136. Martin and Schiff, "City-County Consolidation."
- 137. Elinor Ostrom, Beyond Markets and States: Polycentric Governance of Complex Economic Systems, Nobel Prize Lecture, Stockholm, Sweden, December 8, 2009. Available online at http://www. nobelprize.org/nobel\_prizes/economics/ laureates/2009/ostrom-lecture-slides.pdf; Elinor Ostrom, "Size and performance in a federal system," Publius (1976): 33-73.
- 138. See: Wendell Cox, "Local Democracy in Ohio: A Review of City, Village and Township Financial Performance by Size," Demographia Research Report for the Ohio Township Association, July 2012. Available online at http://www.ohiotownships.org/sites/default/files/Report.pdf.
- For example see Wayne H. Winegarden (2014), "Going Broke One City at a Time: Municipal Bankruptcy in America," Pacific Research Institute, https://www. pacificresearch.org/fileadmin/documents/Studies/PDFs/2013-2015/MunicipalBankruptcy2014\_F.pdf
- 140. Cox, "Local Democracy in Ohio." and Demographia, "Policy Analysis: The

Pennsylvania Distressed Municipalities Program (Act 47)," Available online at http://www.demographia.com/db-distress.pdf.

- 141. Cox, "Local Democracy in Ohio."
- 142. Robert L Bish, "Local Government Amalgamations, Discredited Nineteenth-Century Ideals Alive in the Twenty-First", The Urban Paper, C.D. Howe Institute Commentary, No. 150, Toronto, March 2001. Available online at http://www.cdhowe. org/pdf/bish.pdf.
- 143. See: William F. Fox, and Tami Gurley-Calvez, "Will consolidation improve sub-national governments?," World Bank policy research working paper 3913 (2006).
- 144. Robert L Bish, "Local Government Amalgamations, Discredited Nineteenth-Century Ideals Alive in the Twenty-First", The Urban Paper, C.D. Howe Institute Commentary, No. 150, Toronto, March 2001. Available online at http://www.cdhowe. org/pdf/bish.pdf.
- 145. See: William F. Fox, and Tami Gurley-Calvez, "Will consolidation improve sub-national governments?," World Bank policy research working paper 3913 (2006).
- 146. Robert H. Waterman, Jr., "Reading: Adhocracy," Spinuzzi, October 2, 2012, http://spinuzzi.blogspot.com/2012/10/ reading-adhocracy.html.
- 147. Matt Welch, "Contract cities in California," Reason Foundation, March 2012, http://reason.com/archives/2012/01/19/ contract-cities-in-california.
- 148. Benjamin Looker, "Visions of Autonomy: The New Left and the Neighborhood Government Movement of the 1970s," Journal of Urban History 38 (2012): 566-598.
- 149. Robert B. Reich, "Big Tech Has Become Way Too Powerful," The New York Times, September 18, 2015, http://www.nytimes. com/2015/09/20/opinion/is-big-techtoo-powerful-ask-google.html?ref=opinion&\_r=1.
- 150. 152
- 151. David Winston, "Digital Democracy and the New Age of Reason," MIT Communications Forum, http://web.mit.edu/ comm-forum/papers/winston.html.

- 152. Michael Barone, "Large government out of place in a society based on small technology," Washington Examiner, September 11, 2014, http://www.washingtonexaminer.com/large-government-outof-place-in-a-society-based-on-smalltechnology/article/2553178.
- 153. Anne Whatley, "Digital Democracy: Increasing Civic Engagement through Technology," Visceral, July 27, 2015, https://www.thisisvisceral.com/2015/07/ digital-democracy-increasing-civic-engagement-through-technology/.
- 154. Zelda Bronstein, "Politics' Fatal Therapeutic Turn," Dissent, Summer 2011, https://www.dissentmagazine.org/article/politics-fatal-therapeutic-turn.
- 155. Jason DeParle, "'Our Kids,' by Robert D. Putnam," The New York Times, March 4, 2015, http://www.nytimes. com/2015/03/08/books/review/our-kidsby-robert-d-putnam.html?\_r=0.; Charles Murray, "The New American Divide," The Wall Street Journal, January 21, 2012, http://www.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424 052970204301404577170733817181646.



www.opportunityurbanism.org